STATE SYSTEM OF HIGHER EDUCATION COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA

STANDARD FORM OF AGREEMENT FOR CENTRALLY-HELD, OPEN-END CONTRACT FOR COMMISSIONING SERVICES

CONTR	ACT NO		

This Agreement is made and entered into in Dauphin County, Pennsylvania, by and between

the State System of Higher Education Commonwealth of Pennsylvania 2986 North Second Street

Harrisburg, PA 17110 hereinafter called the "System"

and

---Professional's Name---

---address--a corporation / LP / LLP / LLC / partnership / etc.
organized in the state of _____

hereinafter called the "Professional."

Federal I.D. No.

The Professional agrees to be retained to provide commissioning services, as identified in the Agreement Documents, on an as-needed basis and in accordance with the terms and conditions in the Agreement Documents.

This Agreement shall not be effective until executed by all necessary Commonwealth officials as provided by law.

TYPE AND ADMINISTRATION OF THE AGREEMENT

This Agreement is an indefinite-quantity, indefinite-delivery contract. Services, with associated prices, will be ordered against the Agreement if and when needed by the System and/or by any of its universities. Each Individual Work Order will identify the services required under that Individual Work Order, and may refer to this Agreement's General Conditions, rather than re-stating the services and tasks required. All services contained in Individual Work Orders shall be in accordance with the scope of work and limitations defined within this Agreement.

Open-end Agreements will be held and administered by the Construction Support Office (CSO). CSO is part of the System's Office of the Chancellor, in Harrisburg, PA. Individual Work Orders will be issued and administered by individual System universities, and occasionally by CSO. Individual Work Orders will be held at the respective issuing office.

TERM OF AGREEMENT

The term of this Agreement shall be two years from the Effective Date of this Agreement. With mutual agreement of the System and Professional, this Agreement may be renewed for up to two consecutive renewals of two years each. The duration of this Agreement may not exceed a total of six years.

Notices to Proceed will be associated only with Individual Work Orders.

Individual Work Orders issued prior to the expiration of this Agreement will continue in force until completed or terminated.

AGREEMENT SUM AND COMPENSATION

The Agreement will not have any specific dollar value attached to it. The value of the Agreement will be determined by the value of Individual Work Orders issued under it. Therefore, the value of this Agreement may exceed \$500,000, so the Agreement will require the approval of the Office of General Counsel and the Attorney General.

There is no limit to the Professional's total fees under any Individual Work Order.

There is no limit to the Professional's total fees that can be ordered under all Individual Work Orders during a year, during an Agreement term, or during the duration of the Agreement, including all renewals.

The Billable Rates for this Agreement are attached. The specific Billable Rates for employee classifications as listed shall be used for Individual Work Orders.

The Professional's Billable Rates and compensation under any Individual Work Order will be subject to the System's Professional Fee Cost Principles dated January 15, 2021.

Requirements pertaining to compensation and payment are contained in this Agreement's General Conditions. The Professional's compensation and payment for each Individual Work Order will be negotiated.

ESCALATION CLAUSE FOR AGREEMENT RENEWAL

As the basis for any increase in the Billable Rates for any subsequent renewals of this Agreement, the Consumer Price Index For All Urban Consumers (CPI-U), US City Average, as published by the United States Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, shall be used.

The CPI-U Index available at the award of this Agreement is for [---insert the month and year---], and it is [---insert Index---]. This CPI-U Index shall be compared to the most recently available CPI-U Index when the Agreement is renewed. The percent increase in the Billable Rates for each renewal shall be the same as the percent increase in the CPI-U Index.

SELECTION OF PROFESSIONALS FOR INDIVIDUAL WORK ORDERS

Universities will select firms for Individual Work Orders from those firms holding Agreements. Firms will be selected either directly or through a form of limited competition. The university and the firm will discuss the services required, and the firm shall provide a proposal describing the services and the fee. The university and the firm will negotiate the scope of services and the fee. If agreement is reached, the university will issue the Individual Work Order. If agreement is not reached, or the Individual Work Order is not approved by the System, the university will select a different firm and start the process again.

Alternately, the System may select firms for Individual Work Orders for services which the System is utilizing, and in that case, the System will proceed with the process described above.

NOTICE

Notices, to be effective, shall be electronic (email), and if to the System, shall be directed to the Contracting Officer, and, if to the Professional, shall be directed to the email address set forth in the Professional's proposal as the contact for the firm.

AGREEMENT DOCUMENTS

The terms, conditions, requirements, and considerations of this Agreement are specified in the Agreement Documents, which include this Standard Form of Agreement plus the following, and are incorporated by reference as part of this Agreement:

incorporated by reference as part of this h	Agreement:
General Conditions	consisting of 30 pages
Billable Rates, dated	consisting of 1 page
The following are also incorporated as pa	art of the Agreement, by reference:
The Professional's Proposal, dated _	
Addenda:, dated (as nee	eded)
, dated (as nee	eded)
Additionally, this Agreement may be ame	nded or changed by any of the following:
Any Amendments properly executed	after the Effective Date of this Agreement
Any Renewals	

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Standard Form of Agreement has been executed and delivered as of the date set forth in the caption hereof;

FOR THE PROFESSIONAL	FOR THE COMMONWEALTH	
If the Professional Is an Individual, Proprietorship, or Partnership	State System of Higher Education	
Individual or Partner Date printed name	Steven R. Dupes Date Assistant Vice Chancellor for Facilities Contracting Officer	
If the Professional is a Corporation, LP, LLP, or LLC	APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY	
Pres./VP/ Date printed name	Legal Counsel Date State System of Higher Education	
Sec./Treas./ Date printed name	Office of General Counsel Date Commonwealth of Pennsylvania	
	Office of Attorney General Date Commonwealth of Pennsylvania	

- If the Professional is an Individual, Proprietorship, or General Partnership, one signature is required.
- If the Professional is a Corporation, LP, LLP, or LLC, two signatures are required. For a Corporation, one must be the President or Vice President, and the second must be the Secretary or Treasurer. For an LP, LLP, or LLC, enter the title at the blank.
- The Professional can delegate signatory authority to other individuals by means of a certified Board Resolution presented with this Standard Form of Agreement.

STATE SYSTEM OF HIGHER EDUCATION COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA

GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR THE COMMISSIONING AGREEMENT

TABLE OF CONTENTS

<u>ARTICLE</u>	TITLE	<u>PAGE</u>
ARTICLE 1	DEFINITIONS	2
ARTICLE 2	GENERAL PROVISIONS	3
ARTICLE 3	THE SYSTEM'S RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES	4
ARTICLE 4	THE PROFESSIONAL'S RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES	5
ARTICLE 5	SCOPE OF SERVICES	9
ARTICLE 6	COMPENSATION AND PAYMENT	14
ARTICLE 7	INSURANCE	15
ARTICLE 8	SUSPENSION, REACTIVATION, DEFAULT, AND TERMINATION	17
ARTICLE 9	DISPUTES	20
ARTICLE 10	MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS AND LEGAL MATTERS	22

ARTICLE 1 - DEFINITIONS

1.1 DEFINITIONS

As used in these General Conditions, as well as in the Agreement documents and in any Individual Work Orders, the following terms shall be as described herein, unless the context clearly dictates otherwise.

- a. System means the State System of Higher Education, Commonwealth of Pennsylvania; the Office of the Chancellor of the State System of Higher Education; University or Universities of the State System of Higher Education; or any authorized representative of any of them. In Article 9, however, the terms System and University are used to identify those specific entities.
- b. Professional means a firm contracted by the System to perform commissioning services specified in this Agreement. Professional shall include all of the firm's employees, as well as subconsultants and other subcontracted entities, executing the services of this Agreement on behalf of the firm.
- c. Agreement means the Agreement for Centrally-Held Open-End Contract for Commissioning Services, of which these General Conditions are made a part. The documents comprising the complete Agreement Documents are defined in the Standard Form of Agreement.
- d. Services means any of the commissioning services falling within the scope of this Agreement.
- e. Project means the total effort of design, construction, renovation, improvement, addition to, and/or repair of a facility. The total effort is comprised of a design professional agreement and one or more construction contracts, plus other necessary contracts, agreements, and purchases for management and equipment, and possibly for furniture and furnishings.
- f. Design Professional means a professional architect, engineer, or other consultant contracted by the System to provide design services for the Project under an agreement for design professional services. Design Professional shall include all of the firm's employees and subconsultants engaged in executing the design services. The term design professional may not necessarily begin with capital letters in these documents.
- g. Design Professional Agreement means a contract for design professional services, executed between the System and a design professional, for services for the Project. The term design professional agreement, or design agreement, may not necessarily begin with capital letters in these documents.
- h. Contractor or Construction Contractor means a firm contracted by the System to perform construction work for the Project under a construction contract. Contractor or construction contractor shall include all of the firm's employees, subcontractors, and suppliers engaged in executing the construction work. The terms contractor and construction contractor may not necessarily begin with capital letters in these documents.
- i. Contract or Construction Contract means a contract for construction, executed between the System and a contractor/construction contractor, for construction work on the Project. The terms contract and construction contract may not necessarily begin with capital letters in these documents.
- j. Individual Work Order means a separate work order or purchase order issued under this Agreement.
- k. Amendment means a written order to the Professional, signed by the System and by all necessary Commonwealth officials as provided by law, and issued after the execution of the Agreement, authorizing a change in the terms and conditions of the Standard Form of Agreement and/or the General Conditions, and/or any other terms and conditions provided in any other Agreement Documents. The terms and conditions may be changed only by Amendment.

I. Fiscal Adjustment means a written order to the Professional, signed by the System, and issued after the execution of the Agreement or any Individual Work Order, authorizing a change in the scope of services or an adjustment in the amount and/or schedule of the Agreement or of that Individual Work Order.

ARTICLE 2 - GENERAL PROVISIONS

2.1 OPEN-END AGREEMENT

All services shall be ordered by, and delivered pursuant to, Individual Work Orders. The articles, terms, and conditions contained in these General Conditions shall generally apply to Individual Work Orders, even if the term Individual Work Order is not used in that article, term, or condition.

2.2 MATERIAL INCORPORATED INTO AGREEMENT

The Professional's services shall be governed by all the articles, terms, and conditions of the Agreement Documents, as defined in the Standard Form of Agreement, plus the following:

- a. any additional special conditions provided for this Agreement
- b. these General Conditions
- c. any applicable statutes, codes, ordinances, and System and University policies
- d. any executed Individual Work Orders

If the terms and conditions of any Individual Work Order conflict with these General Conditions, these General Conditions shall prevail.

The Professional's services shall be guided by the contents of the following:

- a. the System's Manual for the Procurement & Administration of Design Professional Services
- b. the System's Manual for the Procurement & Administration of Construction Contracts

2.3 INTEGRATION

The Contract, including all referenced documents, constitutes the entire agreement between the parties.

No agent, representative, employee or officer of either the System or the Professional has authority to make, or has made, any statement, agreement or representation, oral or written, in connection with the Contract, which in any way can be deemed to modify, add to or detract from, or otherwise change or alter its terms and conditions.

No negotiations between the parties, nor any custom or usage, shall be permitted to modify or contradict any of the terms and conditions of the Contract.

Unless otherwise provided for in these General Conditions, no modifications, alterations, changes, or waiver to the Contract or any of its terms shall be valid or binding unless accomplished by a written amendment signed by both parties. All such amendments will be made using the appropriate System form.

2.4 NOTICE TO PROCEED

If the Professional does work prior to a Notice to Proceed being issued by the System, the Professional is proceeding at its own risk. The State System shall not be liable to pay the Professional for any work performed or expenses incurred before the date set forth in the Notice

to Proceed. No University employee has the authority to verbally direct the commencement of any work under this Contract.

2.5 RIGHT TO ORDER CHANGES

The System, without invalidating the Agreement, may, by written order, order changes within the general scope of the Agreement or any Individual Work Order. The Agreement or any Individual Work Order may be changed only after that document has been properly executed by all necessary Commonwealth officials as provided by law. All such changes shall be implemented by either an Amendment or a Fiscal Adjustment. The Professional agrees to provide the service in accordance with any Amendment or a Fiscal Adjustment.

Changes within the general scope of the Agreement may be ordered by the System. Changes not within the general scope of the Agreement must be agreed upon by both parties.

If the Professional desires an increase in the amount of the Agreement or of any Individual Work Order, written notice shall be given to the System before proceeding to execute any services which are the subject of the desired increase.

Any dispute by the Professional in regard to the services, price, or schedule under any Amendment or a Fiscal Adjustment shall be addressed under Article 9.

ARTICLE 3 - THE SYSTEM'S RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES

3.1 SYSTEM'S REPRESENTATIVES

The System may designate, in writing, a person to act as the System's representative with respect to the services to be rendered under this Agreement. Such person shall have complete authority to transmit instructions, receive information, and interpret and define the System's policies and decisions with respect to the Professional's services.

Only those representatives so designated have authority to change, modify, or alter the services required, or incur or cause to be incurred additional obligations beyond the Agreement provisions.

In the event the System retains and designates more than one representative, and that directions, instructions, or interpretations given by those representatives are in conflict, the Professional shall, within three (3) days but before any services addressed in the conflicting directions, instructions, or interpretations are performed, bring the conflict to the attention of those representatives for resolution. In the event those representatives do not resolve the conflict, the Professional shall bring the conflict to the attention of the System for resolution.

3.2 SYSTEM-PROVIDED INFORMATION AND DOCUMENTS

The System will provide to the Professional, or place at the Professional's disposal, all information and documents required for the Project and/or for the services to be provided.

If the information and documents furnished and available are not sufficient for the initiation of services, the Professional shall immediately notify the System.

The Professional shall rely on information provided by the System for the purpose under which it is offered.

3.3 INTERPRETATION OF INSTRUCTIONS

The System shall be the sole interpreter of any printed instructions, and shall have the right to require conformance with same at all times during the services under the Agreement.

3.4 SYSTEM TO ACT PROMPTLY

The System will act with reasonable promptness in response to all submissions and requests for information by the Professional. The System will give prompt written notice to the Professional whenever the System observes or otherwise becomes aware of any development that affects the scope or timing of the Professional's services.

3.5 EFFECT OF SYSTEM'S FAILURE TO DISAPPROVE WORK

The System will examine all studies, reports, sketches, drawings, specifications, proposals and other documents presented by the Professional, obtain advice of an attorney, insurance counselor and other consultants as the System deems appropriate for such examinations, and render in writing decisions pertaining thereto within a reasonable time so as not to delay the services of the Professional.

Any failure of the System to disapprove or reject work submitted by the Professional shall not constitute an acceptance of the work such as to relieve the Professional of its full responsibility to the System for the proper and professional performance of services.

3.6 OWNERSHIP RIGHTS

All studies, reports, working drawings, specifications, special requirements, costs estimates, and other data compiled by the Professional and delivered to the System under this Agreement shall not be copy written and shall become the sole property of the System. The System shall have unrestricted authority to reproduce, distribute, and use any of these documents. The Professional is not liable for any reuse of these documents by the System for other than their intended purpose.

The System shall have no ownership rights to any of the Professional's proprietary materials, data, software, methodologies, or other intellectual property that the Professional brings to the Project and/or has previously developed with or obtained from third parties.

3.7 RIGHT TO AWARD OTHER AGREEMENTS/CONTRACTS

The System reserves the right to award other professional agreements and/or contracts in conjunction with the Project.

ARTICLE 4 - THE PROFESSIONAL'S RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES

4.1 PROFESSIONAL-CLIENT RELATIONSHIP

In performing the services required by the Agreement, the Professional shall act as an independent contractor and not as an employee or agent of the System.

The Professional is directly responsible to the System office that awarded the Agreement or issued the Individual Work Order, and only that office may give instructions that are binding in relation to the Agreement and/or that Individual Work Order.

The System may demand by written justification to the Professional the withdrawal from the Project of any person employed by the Professional who the System deems, in its sole discretion, to be insufficiently qualified or incompetent for the services, or guilty of misconduct.

4.2 PERFORMANCE OF DUTIES AND REPRESENTATION AS TO QUALIFICATION

The Professional specifically represents to and covenants with the System that the

Professional and their consultants, agents, employees, and officers possess and shall possess the experience, knowledge, and skills necessary to qualify them individually for the particular services they perform.

The Professional agrees to exercise reasonable and ordinary skill, care, and diligence in the application of professional knowledge to accomplish the purpose for which the Professional has been retained.

4.3 CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

The Professional may not have any financial interest in any firm that is providing design, construction, construction management, or other related services on the Project, unless expressly approved by the System. Additionally, the Professional shall not have, under separate agreement or contract with the System, made any recommendations to the System concerning the need for services under this Agreement.

4.4 PROFESSIONAL'S SUBCONSULTANTS

The Professional shall acquire all subconsultants that are necessary for performance of the services.

The Professional shall utilize the subconsultants that were specified in the Professional's proposal that was submitted in response to the Request for Proposals. If the Professional is not able to utilize a subconsultant that was specified in the proposal, to the extent represented in the proposal, the Professional shall submit, in writing, the name and qualifications of a substitute subconsultant to the System for review and acceptance prior to them performing any services. The System's acceptance of that subconsultant is not a recognition by the System that that subconsultant is qualified to perform certain services. The System's acceptance shall not be unreasonably withheld.

The Professional shall not subcontract with any other person or entity to perform all or any part of the services to be performed under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the System.

The Professional shall be responsible for all services performed by all subconsultants employed by the Professional. The services of all subconsultants shall conform to the requirements of the Agreement and industry standards.

The relationship between the Professional and a subconsultant limits the participation of the subconsultant as follows:

- a. A subconsultant has no privity of contract with the System.
- b. A subconsultant cannot individually or as a firm submit a bid or fee proposal directly or indirectly to the System, or to any prime contractor, subcontractor, contractor or firm that is involved in a bid or proposal submittal for a project on which the subconsultant has provided or is providing design or other professional services for compensation.
- c. A subconsultant cannot individually, or as a firm, have any personal interest or holding in any firm or company that bids or proposes as a prime contractor, subcontractor, or subsubcontractor for a project on which the subconsultant has provided or is providing design or other professional services for compensation.
- d. A subconsultant cannot individually, or as a firm, have any personal interest or holding, in any firm that bids or proposes as a manufacturer, distributor, or supplier on any project on which the subconsultant has provided or is providing design or other professional services for compensation.
- e. A subconsultant shall inform the System of any current or former Commonwealth employees on the subconsultant's payroll.

4.5 COMPLIANCE WITH LAW

In the performance of the Agreement, the Professional shall comply with all applicable federal, state, and local laws, regulations, and ordinances, insofar as they are applicable to and have jurisdiction over the Project and/or over the services to be provided.

4.6 COOPERATION WITH LOCAL GOVERNMENT ENTITIES

The Professional shall comply with any and all requirements of local municipalities' zoning, planning, permitting, and supervisory bodies, as they are applicable to and have jurisdiction over the Project and/or over the services to be provided.

4.7 PROFESSIONAL'S WORK REVIEWED BY OTHERS

As part of the review effort of the System, the Professional's schedules, estimates, studies, reports, sketches, drawings, specifications, and other submittals may be subject to review by other professionals retained by the System. In all such cases, the Professional will be notified of the System's intent to do so and shall cooperate with such review as directed by the System.

4.8 ADHERENCE TO TIME SCHEDULE

Time is of the essence. The Professional shall provide their services in a manner so as not to delay the Project or service. If the Professional becomes aware that they are not able to provide their services to meet the schedule, or that the schedule is not attainable, the Professional shall notify the System.

4.9 ATTENDANCE AT CONFERENCES AND MEETINGS

The Professional's authorized representative, and the Professional's subconsultants when appropriate, shall attend all conferences and meetings as required by the System. Within one week after each conference or meeting, the Professional shall submit to the System detailed minutes of that conference or meeting.

4.10 LIMITATIONS OF RESPONSIBILITIES

The Professional shall not be responsible for the acts or omissions of any design professional, construction contractor, or other contractor, or of any of their subcontractors, suppliers, agents, or employees, or any other persons (except the Professional's own subconsultants, employees, and agents) at the site or otherwise furnishing or performing any of the design professional's or construction contractors' work. However, nothing contained herein shall be construed to release the Professional from liability for failure to properly perform duties and responsibilities assumed by the Professional in this Agreement or in the Agreement Documents.

The Professional may issue instructions to the design professional or construction contractors and may act on behalf of the System, to the extent provided in this Agreement and those other agreements/contracts, but has no authority to obligate the System for additional costs or other liabilities without the express written consent of the System.

The Professional shall not be responsible for supervision or have control over the contractors' work, nor shall the Professional have authority over or be responsibility for the means, methods, techniques, or procedures of construction selected by the contractors. Accordingly, the Professional can neither guarantee the performance of the construction contracts by the contractors nor assume responsibility for the contractors' failure to perform their work in accordance with the contract documents. Similarly, the Professional cannot guarantee the performance or completion of the work, in accordance with any Project schedule, by any construction contractor.

Any cost opinions or estimates provided by the Professional will be on the basis of experience and judgment. But since the Professional has no control over market conditions or bidding

procedures, the Professional cannot and does not warrant that bids, ultimate construction cost, or Project economics will not vary from such opinions or estimates.

The Professional shall not be responsible for safety precautions and programs incident to the work of the contractors, or for any failure of the contractors to comply with laws, rules, regulations, ordinances, codes, or orders applicable to the contractors furnishing and performing their work.

4.11 PATENT, COPYRIGHT, AND TRADEMARK INDEMNITY

The Professional warrants that it is the sole owner or author of, or has entered into a suitable legal agreement concerning either:

- a. the design of any product or process provided or used in the performance of the Agreement which is covered by a patent, copyright, or trademark registration or other right duly authorized by state or federal law, or
- b. any copyrighted matter in any report, document, or other material provided to the System under the Agreement.

The Professional shall indemnify and hold the System harmless against any suit or proceeding brought against the System on account of any alleged patent, copyright, or trademark infringement in the United States of any of the products provided or used in the performance of the Agreement, unless such product was specified by the System for use by the Professional. This is upon condition that the System shall provide prompt notification in writing of such suit or proceeding; full right, authorization and opportunity to conduct the defense thereof; and full information and all reasonable cooperation for the defense of same. As principles of governmental or public law are involved, the System may participate in or choose to conduct, in its sole discretion, the defense of any such action. If information and assistance are furnished by the System at the Professional's written request, it shall be at the Professional's expense, but the responsibility for such expense shall be only that within the Professional's written authorization.

The Professional shall indemnify and hold the System harmless from all damages, costs, and expenses, including attorney's fees that the Professional or the System may pay or incur by reason of any infringement or violation of the rights occurring to any holder of copyright, trademark, or patent interests and rights in any products provided or used in the performance of the Agreement, unless such product was specified by the System for use by the Professional. If any of the products provided by the Professional in such suit or proceeding are held to constitute infringement and the use is enjoined, the Professional shall, at its own expense and at its option, either procure the right to continue use of such infringement products, replace them with non-infringement equal performance products or modify them so that they are no longer infringing. If the Professional is unable to do any of the preceding, the Professional agrees to remove all the equipment or software which are obtained contemporaneously with the infringing product, or, at the option of the System, only those items of equipment or software which are held to be infringing, and to pay the System:

- a. any amounts paid by the System towards the purchase of the product, less straight line depreciation;
- b. any license fee paid by the System for the use of any software, less an amount for the period of usage; and
- c. the pro rata portion of any maintenance fee representing the time remaining in any period of maintenance paid for.

The obligations of the Professional under this paragraph continue without time limit.

4.12 ATTENDANCE AND TESTIMONY AS WITNESS

Disputes Caused By Professional's Failure. In the event of a dispute between the System and any person caused by the failure of the Professional or its subconsultants to administer services in accordance with this Agreement, the Professional, along with appropriate subconsultants and other necessary, qualified, and authorized representatives, shall attend all conferences, hearings, and court proceedings without any additional charge to the System. If the final disposition of the dispute does not support such failure of the Professional or its subconsultants, then the Professional shall be compensated for the actual cost of services.

Disputes Caused By Others. In the event of a Project related dispute between the System and any person caused by any entity other than the Professional, the System may request the Professional to serve as a witness. If requested, the Professional shall enter into an Agreement detailing the scope and estimated cost of the required witness services. The Professional shall prepare testimony and testify, as to facts and as to expert opinion, in all such proceedings on behalf of the System. The Professional shall be compensated periodically for the actual cost of the services until services are complete.

Expert Witness. In a dispute between the System and any person or entity other than the Professional, the System may request the Professional to serve as an expert witness.

4.13 PROFESSIONAL EVALUATIONS

By signing this Agreement, the Professional consents to the evaluation of its performance by the System, or its representatives, and the Professional understands that any such evaluation may be used in future selections of professionals. The System, or its representatives, shall provide the Professional with notice of any unsatisfactory evaluations and the reasons therefore. In such cases, the Professional shall be entitled to submit a reply.

Furthermore, the Professional's subconsultants may also be evaluated. The Professional is required to notify each of its subconsultants that in contracting with the Professional, the subconsultant consents to the System's evaluation of the subconsultant and to the use of any such evaluation in future selections of professionals.

ARTICLE 5 - SCOPE OF SERVICES

5.1 COMMISSIONING SERVICES

Commissioning is the process of ensuring that building systems are designed, installed, functionally tested, and capable of being operated and maintained to perform in conformity with the design intent. The commissioning process may start as early as planning and design; will be conducted during construction, startup, testing, and acceptance; and may continue throughout the life of the building.

The scope of work for this Contract may include the following services:

- a. New Building Commissioning
- b. Existing Building Commissioning
- c. Re-Commissioning
- d. Retro-Commissioning
- e. Monitoring Based Commissioning
- f. Other Commissioning (types not included above)

5.2 SYSTEMS TO BE COMMISSIONED

The following systems and assemblies will generally be commissioned. However, the System reserves the right to select or add other systems and equipment on each specific project.

- a. Central building automation systems (BAS and/or ATC)
- b. All equipment of the Heating, Ventilating, and Air Conditioning (HVAC) systems
- c. Scheduled or occupancy sensor lighting controls
- d. Daylight dimming controls
- e. Refrigeration systems
- f. Emergency power generators, including automatic transfer switching and fuel systems
- g. Uninterruptible power supply systems
- h. Laboratory, clean room, hoods, and pressurization
- Electrical systems, including verification of panel schedules, medium voltage cables, switchgear and transformers, switchboards, dry-type transformers (1000 volt and less), motor controllers, and motor control centers
- j. Domestic and process water pumping and mixing systems
- k. Sound control systems equipment and testing
- I. Fire alarm systems
- m. Electronic security systems
- n. Building envelope

5.3 INDIVIDUAL WORK ORDERS

Article 5.4, New/Existing Building Commissioning, contains representative individual tasks that may be requested from the Professional on an assigned project. The System will request only selected tasks on an assigned project. These task descriptions are standards that are requested from the Professional by the System for a project. The task descriptions are general in nature and are not intended to be all–inclusive for an assigned project under this Contract. Upon issuance of an Individual Work Order, the Professional shall:

- a. Within 14 days, hold a scoping meeting and identify responsibilities with the project team.
- b. Review the System's objectives documentation, and the Design Professional's design intent document, for clarity and completeness. Consider the following features: mechanical, energy consumption, environmental quality, environmental sustainability, and functionality for tenants. Submit a report to the System.

5.4 NEW/EXISTING BUILDING COMMISSIONING

a. DESIGN PHASE

- 1. In conjunction with the selected Design Professional and the System, organize and lead the commissioning team.
- Prepare the initial design intent document from information contained in the System
 program and in conjunction with the Design Professional. Submit electronic copies to
 the System after completion of the preliminary design review.
- 3. Prepare a design-phase commissioning plan that describes in general the extent of the commissioning process to accomplish the System program and the initial design intent. Submit the plan to the System.
- 4. Review and comment on the technical correctness of the sketch and preliminary design documents for the HVAC, electrical, plumbing, and other systems requiring commissioning. Work with the Design Professional within the commissioning process so that interfaces between systems are recognized and coordinated.

- 5. Prepare all required specification sections for commissioning and submit to the Design Professional for inclusion in their final submission. The focus of the commissioning specifications shall be to provide enough information to the bidding contractors about the commissioning process and their expected involvement in it, so that they can include this work in their bid. Specifications shall be based generally on ASHRAE Guidelines 0-2013, The Commissioning Process, and 1.1-2007, HVAC&R Technical Requirements for the Commissioning Process. Coordinate the format of these sections with the Design Professional. Specification sections which should include commissioning-related requirements consist of:
 - Section 019113, General Commissioning Requirements, which provides general information on the commissioning process and the scope of commissioning services to be provided for the project.
 - ii. Section 017900, Demonstration and Training, which provides information on user training and the scope of responsibilities of the contractors.
 - iii. Technical sections that fall under Division 22, Plumbing, Division 23, Heating Ventilating and Air Conditioning, and Division 26, Electrical, which detail specific requirements for the role of each prime contractor and their subcontractors in the commissioning process.
 - iv. Other technical sections for equipment commissioning, as appropriate i.e., fume hoods, environmental boxes etc.
- 6. Review and comment on the final plans and specifications with respect to their completeness in all areas relating to the commissioning process. This should be a complete constructability review of the HVAC, plumbing, and electrical documents. This includes ensuring that the design phase commissioning plan has been followed and that there are adequate devices included in the design to ensure the ability to properly test, balance, and adjust the systems and to document the performance of each piece of equipment and each system. Any items required but not shown shall be brought to the attention of the Design Professional prior to bidding.
- 7. Review contract specifications to ensure that the specifications include installing contractor requirements during the construction and testing phase of the project so the installing contractor is prepared to support the commissioning effort.
- 8. Special emphasis should include, but not be limited to, the following:
 - i. Coordinated drawing review by the Professional
 - ii. Submittal review by the Professional
 - iii. O&M Manuals, to be sent to the Professional immediately after approval of the equipment submittals by the Design Professional
 - iv. Flushing of piping and hydrostatic test procedures
 - v. TAB air/water/noise/vibration requirements and test procedures
 - vi. Water treatment
 - vii. Protection of equipment/systems prior to startup
 - viii. As-built documentation including, but not limited to, drawings, warranties, etc. to be delivered prior to occupancy or final payment
 - ix. Deferred functional testing to be performed prior to final payment

b. CONSTRUCTION PHASE

 Prepare and submit an electronic copy of the construction-phase commissioning plan to the System prior to the first construction-phase coordination meeting. Execute the commissioning process through organization of all meetings, tests, demonstrations, training events, and performance verifications described in the contract documents and the approved commissioning plan. Organizational responsibilities include preparation

- of agendas, attendance lists, arrangements for meeting facilities, and timely notification to participants for each commissioning event. The Professional shall act as chair at all commissioning events and ensure execution of all agenda items. The Professional shall prepare minutes of every commissioning event and send copies to all team members and attendees, including the System, within five workdays of the event.
- 2. Schedule the construction-phase coordination meeting within 14 days of the initial job conference at the project field office at a time suitable to the prime HVAC and Electrical Contractors, the Design Professional, and the System. This meeting will be for the purpose of reviewing the complete commissioning process and establishing tentative schedules for HVAC and electrical system orientation and inspections; O&M submittals; training sessions; system flushing and testing; testing, adjusting, and balancing (TAB) work; and functional performance testing and job completion.
- 3. Receive and review coordinated drawings. Comment on any conflicts.
- 4. Receive and review the O&M Manuals submitted by the contractors. Ensure that they follow the specified outline and format.
- 5. Check installation for adequate accessibility for maintenance and component replacement or repair.
- 6. Witness selected equipment, subsystem, and system installation, start-up, and testing. Ensure the results are documented properly, including a summary of deficiencies.
- 7. Prior to initiating the TAB work, meet with the System, HVAC contractor, Design Professional, and TAB subcontractor. The TAB subcontractor will outline TAB procedures and get concurrence from the Design Professional and the Professional. Ensure that the TAB subcontractor has all forms required for proper data collection and understands their importance and use.
- 8. Upon receipt of notification from the contractor that the HVAC system has been completed and is operational and the TAB report has been accepted by the Design Professional, proceed to verify the TAB report and the function of the control systems in accordance with the commissioning specification. Prepare a verification report, including all test data and identification of deficiencies, and submit to the System and Design Professional for review. Provide a summary action list of all deficiencies, and submit it to the System and Design Professional for review. This list shall be included in the contractor's punch list.
- 9. Supervise the commissioning team members in the functional performance tests. The test data will be part of the commissioning report.
- 10. Review record drawings for accuracy with respect to the installed systems. Request revisions to achieve accuracy.
- 11. The Professional, for an additional fee if approved by the System, shall coordinate the repairs, adjustment, or replacement of deficient equipment or systems by the appropriate contractor through the Design Professional and the System, depending on how the project is managed during construction. The Professional shall track and report on this effort (in writing to the System) to an acceptable conclusion.

c. TRAINING

 Schedule the initial user training session so that it will be held immediately before the system orientation and inspection. The facility's O&M personnel, the Design Professional, the Contractors, and the Professional will attend this session. The Contractors will conduct this session, with assistance from the Design Professional, giving an overview of the system, the system design intent, and the reasoning behind the selection of the equipment.

- 2. Coordinate system orientation and inspection following the initial training session. Prepare minutes of this meeting, with separate summaries of deficiency findings by the facility's staff and the Professional. Distribute to attendees and the System.
- 3. Schedule the O&M training sessions. These training sessions are to be attended by the System and/or facility personnel, the Professional, the Design Professional, Contractors, and equipment suppliers, as necessary. The format will follow the outline in the specifications. This should include hands-on training.

d. COMMISSIONING TASKS DURING WARRANTY/POST-ACCEPTANCE PHASE

- 1. Repeat functional performance tests to accommodate opposite seasonal tests and supervise any correction of performance deficiencies. Submit addendum to the commissioning report.
- Review with facility staff, the current building operation and the condition of outstanding issues related to the original and seasonal commissioning. Interview facility staff and identify problems or concerns they have with operating the building as originally intended. Make suggestions for improvements and for recording these changes in the O&M manuals. Identify areas that may come under warranty or under the original construction contract.

e. FINAL DOCUMENTATION

- 1. Ensure that O&M manuals and all other as-built records have been updated to include all modifications made during the construction phase.
- 2. Prepare a commissioning report.
- 3. Assemble the final documents, which will include the commissioning report, the systems/re-commissioning management manual, and all as-built records. Submit a preliminary copy of this documentation to both the Design Professional and to the System for review and acceptance. Upon acceptance, submit final copies (one each) to the Design Professional and the System.
- 4. If the project is USGBC LEED Certified, provide necessary documentation for submission.
- 5. Oversee functional performance tests to accommodate seasonal tests and/or correct any performance deficiencies. Submit addendum to the commissioning report.
- 6. Recommend acceptance of the commissioned systems to the System.

5.5 OTHER COMMISSIONING TYPES AND SERVICES

a. RE-COMMISSIONING

Re-Commissioning applies to the commissioning of existing projects that were previously commissioned. Re-commissioning is a process to provide a quality, observable, and systematic means to have the building systems operationally back to day-one status and to have all the building systems integrated to perform optimally. If original documentation is available, and the condition, layout, and use of the building has not changed significantly, recommissioning may mirror the original building commissioning checks and tests. If original documentation is not available, and/or the condition, layout, and use of the building has changed significantly, re-commissioning may instead mirror a retro-commissioning process. In reality, re-commissioning may combine parts of both processes.

The System does not have a standard scope of work for re-commissioning. The Professional shall provide, in their proposal for an anticipated Individual Work Order, their approach to the re-commissioning effort and a detailed scope of services, and products, to be provided.

b. RETRO-COMMISSIONING

Retro-commissioning is an event in the life of an existing building which was never commissioned. Retro-commissioning is a systematic investigation process for improving and optimizing a building's operations and maintenance status, and ensuring system functionality. Retro-commissioning may or may not emphasize bringing the building back to its original intended design. Original design documentation may no longer exist or may be irrelevant. The condition, layout, and use of the building may have changed over time. Retro-commissioning may result in recommendations to investigate further capital improvements. The goals and objectives for applying the retro-commissioning process, as well as the level of rigor, may vary, depending on the current needs of the owner, the budget, and the condition of the equipment. The System does not have a standard scope of work for retro-commissioning. However, the general approach to retro-commissioning should consist of five steps: planning, investigating, implementing/correcting, reporting, and planning projects. The Professional shall provide, in their proposal for an anticipated Individual Work Order, their approach to the retro-commissioning effort and a detailed scope of services, and products, to be provided.

c. MONITORING BASED COMMISSIONING

Monitoring based commissioning is a process to provide a quality, observable, and systematic means to document, confirm, and assure the continuing and on-going operation of all integrated building systems in existing buildings. The focus of the process is on optimizing systems operation, assuring systems maintenance, and recording and maintaining documentation. Monitoring based commissioning should identify and correct building systems problems immediately, thereby continually optimizing system performance.

Monitoring based commissioning is essentially an advanced form of building O&M that more rigorously addresses the issue of persistence. To achieve this, monitoring based commissioning requires benchmarking energy usage via metering that is permanently installed. Data is continuously gathered and compared against benchmarks to ensure that the building systems function optimally throughout their lives.

The System does not have a standard scope of work for monitoring based commissioning. The Professional shall provide, in their proposal for an anticipated Individual Work Order, their approach to the monitoring based commissioning effort and a detailed scope of services, and products, to be provided.

ARTICLE 6 - COMPENSATION AND PAYMENT

6.1 GENERAL

The Professional shall perform the specified services at the rates quoted in this Agreement, and/or in any Individual Work Order, and for the fees and hours negotiated. The Professional will be compensated only for services performed to the reasonable satisfaction of the System.

6.2 REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES

Reimbursable expenses will be paid only if determined to be payable by the Professional Fee Cost Principles identified in this Agreement, and/or if identified in an Individual Work Order as being payable.

6.3 ADDITIONAL COMPENSATION FOR EXTENDED TIME FRAME FOR THE PROJECT

If the actual Project time exceeds the time indicated in an Individual Work Order, at no fault of the Professional, the Professional may be entitled to additional compensation. The amount of compensation will be a matter of negotiation between the Professional and the System at the time of such an occurrence.

The Professional shall not be entitled to additional compensation for delays in the Project or in the services being provided that are attributable to acts of the Professional or its subconsultants or failures to act by the Professional or its subconsultants.

6.4 EXPERT WITNESS

Billable hours representing expert witness services during actual litigation, arbitration, mediation, or similar proceedings will be paid accordingly.

6.5 INVOICING AND PAYMENT

The Professional may invoice on a monthly basis, unless otherwise agreed upon by the Professional and the System. The Professional's invoices shall be itemized by line item. Invoices shall include only amounts due. The Contract Number shall be included on all invoices. In addition, the System shall have the right to require the Professional to prepare and submit a "Work In Progress" sheet that contains, at a minimum, the tasks performed, and number of hours for each.

The System will make payment not less than thirty (30) days after a proper invoice is received.

The Professional shall not construe payment as acceptance of the service performed by the Professional. The System reserves the right to conduct further review of services after payment, but within a reasonable time, and to reject the service if such post-payment review discloses a defect or a failure to meet the requirements of the Agreement and/or the Individual Work Order.

If the System withholds payment of an invoice, or withholds monies which are the partial basis of an invoice, the System will provide, within 15 days of the date that the invoice is received, notification of the reason(s) for which the withholding is being made. The withholding must be representative of the value of the reason(s). Disputes about withholdings shall be subject to Article 9.

ARTICLE 7 - INSURANCE

7.1 INSURANCE ARTICLE AND INDIVIDUAL WORK ORDERS

The requirements of this Article are applicable for Individual Work Orders only. The System or a University may require higher limits of liability, or waive specific insurance requirements, for any Individual Work Order.

7.2 GENERAL

All policies shall be issued by insurance companies authorized to conduct such business under the laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, and which have been issued a Financial Strength Rating of A- or better by A.M. Best Company, Inc.

Coverage shall be in place prior to any services taking place and shall be maintained without interruption until three years after final payment on the Agreement, or unless termination of coverage is approved by the System.

If the Professional fails to maintain, at any time, the requirements of this Article, the System

may terminate or suspend the services of the Professional, according to the provisions of this Agreement.

7.3 REQUIRED DOCUMENTATION

The Professional shall furnish to the System a Certificate of Insurance indicating the existence of the insurance required under this Article, the amount of coverage of such insurance, and the amount of the deductible. The Certificate shall contain a provision stating that coverages will not be canceled or changed prior to the expiration date without giving 30-day prior written notice to the System. The System shall be expressly endorsed as a cancellation notice recipient.

The System shall be named as an Additional Insured on the general liability and automobile policies. The coverage shall be primary and non-contributory. A copy of the policy's Additional Insureds endorsement shall be provided with the Certificate.

Renewal Certificates shall be provided to the System prior to the expiration date shown on the Certificate.

7.4 LIABILITY INSURANCE

The Professional shall purchase and maintain such insurance as will protect the System from claims set forth below which may arise out of or result from the Professional's activities under this Agreement, whether such operations be by the Professional or by a subconsultant or by anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them, or by anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable. Coverage shall provide for:

- a. claims under Workers Compensation and other similar employee benefit laws, with coverage of at least the Pennsylvania-mandated minimums;
- b. claims for damages because of bodily injury to, occupational sickness or disease of, or death of the Professional's employees, and claims insured by usual personal injury coverage;
- c. claims for damages because of bodily injury to, sickness or disease of, or death of any person other than the Professional's employees, and claims insured by usual personal injury coverage:
- d. and claims for damages because of injury to or destruction of tangible property including loss of use resulting therefrom.

The Professional's general liability insurance shall be written for not less than \$1,000,000 for each occurrence, and for not less than \$3,000,000 general aggregate.

The Professional's automobile insurance shall be written for not less than \$1,000,000 combined single limit.

The Professional may have umbrella liability insurance to meet the required minimum limits for the general liability, automobile, and Workers Compensation insurances.

The Professional's liability insurances shall also provide for contractual liability coverage as necessary to meet the Professional's obligations under Article 10.11 and Article 10.12.

The Professional's liability policies shall contain a waiver of subrogation in favor of the System.

Upon request, the Professional shall submit a certified copy(ies) of the entire general liability, automobile liability, and/or umbrella policy(ies) to the System.

The Professional shall either require each of its subconsultants to procure and to maintain during the life of its subcontract Workers Compensation, general liability, automobile liability, and property damage liability insurance of the type and in the same amounts as specified in this Article, or insure the activity of its subconsultants in its own insurance policies. The Professional shall submit to the System, prior to any subconsultants commencing any on-site services, evidence that the subconsultants are covered by insurance as required herein. The Professional shall require all subconsultants' liability policies to contain a waiver of subrogation

in favor of the System.

7.5 PROFESSIONAL LIABILITY INSURANCE

Prior to initiating services under any Individual Work Order, the Professional shall secure and maintain Professional Liability Insurance with a minimum coverage of \$1,000,000 to provide protection against loss resulting from negligent acts, errors and omissions arising from providing these professional services and activities. The Professional shall maintain the Professional Liability Insurance up to and including one year after Final Payment under any or all Individual Work Orders.

If the Professional is a Joint Venture, a Professional Liability Insurance Policy covering the Joint Venture may be secured and maintained to provide coverage, and a certificate of insurance to that effect shall be provided. Otherwise, each individual member of the Joint Venture shall provide evidence to the University that their individual practice policy covers that individual member's activities in the Joint Venture. If individual practice policies covering the members of the Joint Venture are provided, each policy shall provide the minimum coverage specified above, and each individual member of the Joint Venture shall provide a certificate of insurance which indicates that their individual practice insurance covers that individual member's participation in the Joint Venture.

ARTICLE 8 - SUSPENSION, REACTIVATION, DEFAULT, AND TERMINATION

8.1 SUSPENSION OF WORK

The System may, at any time, direct the Professional to suspend all services on the Project, or any part thereof, pending receipt of further notice from the System.

In all such cases the System and the Professional shall agree upon an appropriate phasing out of the services, or any part thereof, in such a manner that the services may be resumed with a minimum of added cost to the System, but in no event shall the services be continued beyond the completion of the current phase and/or tasks in progress. The Professional shall be compensated as if the Agreement has been terminated at the completion of the agreed balance of the services.

8.2 PROVISION FOR SPECIAL CASES

If the Agreement so provides, by a reference to this paragraph, upon any suspension of services, or termination of services, the System and the Professional shall agree upon the amount to be reimbursed to the Professional to cover the costs, during any period of suspension, or incurred in effecting a termination, of any additional space specifically leased for the Project and of holding or terminating the employment of any group of employees specially hired for the Project. The Professional shall have given the System notice prior to leasing such space or hiring such personnel as a prerequisite to receiving additional compensation hereunder. The Professional shall use his best efforts to minimize all claims for additional compensation hereunder.

8.3 FORCE MAJEURE

Neither party will incur any liability to the other if its performance of any obligation under this Agreement is prevented or delayed by causes beyond its control and without the fault or negligence of either party. Causes beyond a party's control may include, but are not limited to: acts of God or war; changes in any controlling law, regulations, orders, or requirements of any governmental entity; severe weather conditions; civil disorders; natural disasters; fire; epidemics and quarantines; general strikes throughout the trade; and freight embargoes. The

Professional shall notify the System orally within five (5) days and in writing within ten (10) days of the date on which the Professional becomes aware, or should have reasonably become aware, that such cause would prevent or delay its performance. Such notification shall:

- a. describe fully such cause(s) and its effect on performance,
- b. state whether performance under the Agreement is prevented or delayed, and,
- c. if performance is delayed, state a reasonable estimate of the duration of the delay.

The Professional shall have the burden of proving that such cause(s) delayed or prevented its performance despite its diligent efforts to perform, and shall produce such supporting documentation as the System may reasonably request. After receipt of such notification, the System may elect either to cancel the Agreement or to extend the time for performance as reasonably necessary to compensate for the delay.

In the event of a declared emergency by competent governmental authorities, the System may, by notice to the Professional, suspend all or a portion of the Agreement.

8.4 REACTIVATION OF PROJECT

Where services have been suspended or terminated for a time longer than five months, and are subsequently reactivated, the System and the Professional shall agree, prior to the beginning of the reactivated services, upon a lump sum, or other basis of reimbursement to the Professional for documentable and directly related extra startup costs as result of services having been suspended or terminated. If agreement as to the amount of reimbursement is not reached, the Professional shall proceed with the Project and seek adjustment under Article 9. If the Professional does not proceed within thirty (30) days from notice to proceed, the System may terminate the Agreement for material default.

8.5 TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE

The University shall have the right to terminate this Contract for its convenience without penalty or recourse if the University determines termination to be in its best interest. Termination shall be effective upon written notice to the Professional. The Professional shall comply with all reasonable instructions of the System, relating to such termination, including but not limited to: (i) delivery of drawings, reports, and other engineering data to the System, (ii) discontinuance of services on outstanding contracts, and (iii) furnishing to the System information concerning all action to be taken respecting outstanding agreements with consultants, contracts, awards, orders, or other matters. Upon termination, the System shall own all reports and data developed as required by the Agreement. The Professional shall be paid for services satisfactorily completed prior to the effective date of the termination, but in no event shall the Professional be entitled to recover loss of profits, anticipated profits, lost opportunity, loss of use of money, or other similar costs.

8.6 TERMINATION FOR NON-APPROPRIATION

The System's obligation to make payments during any System fiscal year succeeding the current fiscal year shall be subject to availability and appropriation of funds. When funds (state and/or federal) are not appropriated or otherwise made available to support continuation of performance in a subsequent fiscal year period, the System shall have the right to terminate the Agreement for Convenience. The Professional shall be reimbursed for the reasonable value of any nonrecurring costs incurred but not amortized in the price of the supplies or services delivered under this Agreement. Such reimbursement shall not include loss of profit, anticipated profits, lost opportunity, loss of use of money, administrative or overhead costs, or other similar costs. The reimbursement amount may be paid from any appropriations available for that purpose.

8.7 TERMINATION UPON DISABILITY OF PROFESSIONAL

In the event of the Professional's death, mental disability, physical disability, or inability to complete the Agreement for any other reason over which Professional has no control, including military mobilization and dissolution of the Professional firm, the System shall have the right to Terminate for Convenience and to select and employ a new professional to complete the services. If the termination is by reason of death or incapacity of the Professional, all payments due and owing shall be made to the Professional's personal representative. If the termination is by reason of the liquidation of a partnership or the dissolution of a corporation, payment shall be made to the liquidating partner or trustees, as the case may be.

8.8 TERMINATION FOR CAUSE

The System shall have the right to terminate the Agreement for Cause under Article 8.9, upon written notice to the Professional. If it is later determined through proper dispute and/or legal proceedings that the System erred in terminating the Agreement for Cause, the termination shall be deemed to be a Termination for Convenience under Article 8.5. The System will allow a 10-day cure period to correct the default or cause.

Under a Termination for Cause, continuing for the period specified in the written notice of such default and demand for cure, no further payments shall be made to the Professional until the System shall have engaged another Professional to complete the services. If another Professional is engaged, the cost to the System of the compensation and expenses of such other Professional shall be deducted from the remainder of the compensation otherwise payable to the Professional for completion of the services. Additionally, the System may deduct any reasonable and necessary administrative costs for reprocurement. Any shortage shall be recoverable by the System from the defaulting Professional.

8.9 DEFAULT

The System may, subject to the provisions of Article 8.3, and in addition to its other rights under the Agreement, declare the Professional in default by written notice to the Professional and terminate, subject to the provisions of Article 8, the whole or any part of this Agreement for any of the following reasons:

- a. Failure to begin services within the time specified in the Agreement;
- b. Failure to perform the services with sufficient labor, equipment, or material to ensure the completion of the specified services in accordance with the terms of the Agreement;
- c. Unsatisfactory performance of the services;
- d. Discontinuance of services without approval;
- e. Failure to resume services, which were discontinued, within a reasonable time after notice to do so;
- f. Insolvency or bankruptcy;
- g. Assignment made for the benefit of creditors;
- h. Failure or refusal within ten (10) days after written notice by the System, to make payment or show cause why payment should not be made, of any amounts due for materials furnished, labor supplied or performed, for equipment rentals, or for utility services rendered:
- i. Failure to protect, to repair, or to make good any damage or injury to property; or
- j. Breach of any material provision of this Agreement.

In the event that the System terminates this Agreement in whole or in part as provided for above, the System may procure, upon such terms and in such manner as it determines, services similar or identical to those so terminated, and the Professional shall be liable to the System for any reasonable excess costs for such similar or identical services included within

the terminated part of the Agreement.

If the Agreement is terminated, the System may require the Professional to transfer title of partially completed services and deliver such immediately to the System in the manner and to the extent directed by the System, including, where applicable, reports, working papers, and other documentation, as the Professional has specifically produced or specifically acquired for the performance of such part of the Agreement as has been terminated.

Payment for completed services accepted by the System shall be at the agreement's price. Payment for partially completed services including, where applicable, reports and working papers delivered to and accepted by the System, shall be in an amount agreed upon by the Professional and System. The System may withhold from amounts otherwise due the Professional for such completed or partially completed services, such sum as the System determines to be necessary to protect the System against loss.

The rights and remedies of the System provided in this paragraph shall not be exclusive and are in addition to any other rights and remedies provided by law or under this Agreement. The System's failure to exercise any rights or remedies provided in this paragraph shall not be construed to be a waiver by the System of its rights and remedies in regard to the event of default or any succeeding event of default. Following reasonable and prudent efforts of the Professional's administrative remedies as set forth in this Agreement, the Professional's exclusive remedy shall be to seek damages at the Board of Claims.

ARTICLE 9 - DISPUTES

9.1 DISPUTES BETWEEN THE PROFESSIONAL AND THE SYSTEM

This Article applies to any dispute, disagreement, question, or other matter between the Professional and the System arising under or by virtue of this Agreement. Such matters shall be initiated as a written claim, meaning a written demand or assertion seeking, as a matter of right, interpretation of the Agreement terms, conditions, or requirements, or adjustment of the Agreement Sum and/or Agreement Time, or other relief with respect to the Agreement.

Claims shall be processed as called for in this Article, until resolved or waived.

The Professional shall diligently carry on the services and maintain the progress schedule during the Disputes process, including Board of Claims proceedings, if any, unless otherwise agreed to in writing by the Professional and the System.

At any step in the System's process, the Professional's failure to submit a timely written request for the next step shall constitute the Professional's waiver of the claim.

The Disputes processes in this Article, and claims introduced under them, shall survive Agreement termination.

9.2 PROCEDURES

Step 1, Project Manager's Determination

Professional's Written Request. The Professional shall submit, in writing to the University Project Manager, a request for a determination on a claim. The request must be submitted not later than 21 days after occurrence of the event giving rise to the claim, or not later than 21 days after the Professional first recognizes the condition giving rise to the claim, whichever is later.

Project Manager's Written Determination. The University Project Manager will render the University's Initial Written Determination within 14 days. If this Determination is not acceptable to the Professional, the Professional may proceed with Step 2. If the University Project Manager fails to issue an Initial Written Determination within 14 days, the request for a determination on

the claim shall be deemed denied and the Professional may proceed with Step 2.

Step 2, Contracting Officer's Pre-Claim Conference and University's Final Written Determination

Professional's Written Request. The Professional shall submit, in writing to the University Contracting Officer, a request for the University's Final Written Determination on the claim. The request must be submitted not later than 7 days after receipt of the University's Initial Written Determination, or deemed denial of the Initial Written Determination, whichever is later.

Pre-Claim Conference. The University Contracting Officer will hold a Pre-Claim Conference with the Professional to discuss the claim within 21 days of receipt of the request for the University's Final Written Determination. If the University Contracting Officer fails to hold a Pre-Claim Conference within the timeframe set forth in this Article, the request shall be deemed denied and the Professional may proceed with Step 3.

University Final Written Determination. The University Contracting Officer will render the University's Final Written Determination within 14 days after the Pre-Claim Conference. If this Determination is not acceptable to the Professional, the Professional may proceed with Step 3. If the University Contracting Officer fails to issue a Final Written Determination within 14 days of the Pre-Claim Conference, the request shall be deemed denied and the Professional may proceed with Step 3.

Step 3, Agency Claim Review and Hearing and Agency Final Decision

Professional's Written Request. The Professional shall submit, in writing to the System's Office of the Chancellor, Director of Construction Management, a request for an Agency Claim Review by the Office of the Chancellor. The request must be submitted not later than 7 days after receipt of the University's Final Written Determination, or deemed denial of the request for the University's Final Written Determination, whichever is later.

Agency Claim Review and Hearing. An Agency Claim Review Panel will conduct a review of the claim. The Panel will review the information and arguments and determine if a Hearing is warranted. If conducted, the Hearing will be administered by the Panel and will allow both parties to present their respective cases.

Agency Final Decision. If the claim is not resolved by mutual agreement of the parties, the Office of the Chancellor will, within 120 days after receipt of the Professional's request for an Agency Claim Review, issue a written Agency Final Decision formulated by the Panel. The Decision will state the basis for the decision and inform the Professional of the right to administrative and judicial review. A copy of the Agency's Final Decision will be delivered to the Professional by email. The Agency's Final Decision issued by the Office of the Chancellor represents the final order of the Purchasing Agency. If the Agency's Final Decision is not issued within 120 days after the request for the Agency Claim Review was submitted, then the Claim shall be deemed denied. The 120-day period may be extended with the written consent of both the Office of the Chancellor and the Professional.

Professional's Appeal. The Professional shall have all appeal rights as set forth in the Commonwealth Procurement Code (62 P.S. § 101, et seq.).

9.3 ADMINISTRATIVE AND JUDICIAL REVIEW RIGHTS

The Board of Claims has the exclusive jurisdiction for claims under this Agreement, as provided in the Commonwealth Procurement Code (62 P.S. § 101, et seq.). If either the Professional or the System is aggrieved by the decision of the Board of Claims, they may appeal to the Commonwealth Court under the Commonwealth Judicial Code (42 P.S. § 763(a)(1)) (relating to direct appeals from government agencies) within 30 days after certification of the Board's decision.

9.4 DISPUTES BY THE SYSTEM AGAINST THE PROFESSIONAL

The System reserves its right to assert a claim against the Professional in any court of proper

jurisdiction.

9.5 DISPUTES BETWEEN DIFFERENT CONTRACTORS OF THE SYSTEM

The System shall have no obligation to any third parties for any claim, nor be a party to any claims, disputes, or actions between different entities with which the System has contracted; nor shall such claims, disputes, or actions be subject to Board of Claims proceedings.

Disputes between different entities with which the System has contracted shall not delay completion of the services, which shall be continued by the parties, subject to the rights herein before provided. The intent of this clause is to benefit all entities working on the Project or related projects and to serve as an indication of the mutual intent of the System and the Professional that this clause raise such other entities to the status of third party beneficiaries only as to the terms and conditions of this Article.

ARTICLE 10 - MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS AND LEGAL MATTERS

10.1 NEWS RELEASES

News releases and media contacts regarding this Agreement will be made by the System only, unless the System directs otherwise in specific instances. In such instances, the System shall receive prior review and approval of such releases. In any case, the Professional shall not use the name of the System or any System university for promotional or marketing purposes without the System's prior written approval.

10.2 ASSIGNMENT

For the purposes of this Agreement, the term "assign" shall include, but shall not be limited to, the sale, gift, assignment, pledge, or other transfer of any ownership interest in the Professional, provided, however, that the term shall not apply to the sale or other transfer of stock of a publicly traded company.

The Professional shall not assign, in whole or in part, this Agreement or its rights, duties, obligations, or responsibilities hereunder without the prior written consent of the System, which consent may be withheld at the sole and absolute discretion of the System.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Professional may, without the consent of the System, assign its rights to payment to be received under the Agreement, provided that the Professional provides written notice of such assignment to the System together with a written acknowledgement from the assignee that any such payments are subject to all of the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

Also notwithstanding the foregoing, the Professional may, with consent of the System, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, assign its rights, duties, obligations, or responsibilities hereunder to the Professional's parent or affiliate, so long as such assignment is part of a merger, acquisition, or restructuring. Such assignment shall still be contingent upon all necessary Commonwealth approvals.

Any assignment consented to by the System shall be evidenced by a written assignment agreement executed by the Professional and its assignee in which the assignee agrees to be legally bound by all of the terms and conditions of the Agreement and to assume the duties, obligations, and responsibilities being assigned.

Subject to the terms and conditions of this Article, this Agreement shall be binding upon the parties and their respective successors and assigns.

A change of name by the Professional, following which the Professional's federal identification

number remains unchanged, shall not be considered to be an assignment hereunder. The Professional shall give the System written notice of any such change of name.

10.3 APPLICABLE LAW

This Agreement shall be governed by and interpreted and enforced in accordance with the laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania (without regard to any conflict of laws' provisions) and the decisions of the Pennsylvania courts.

10.4 PROVISIONS REQUIRED BY PENNSYLVANIA LAW OR FEDERAL LAW TO BE INSERTED

Each and every provision required to be inserted in Professional Agreements by the laws of Pennsylvania, or the lawful regulations of any agency of the Commonwealth, and, if the Project involves the use of federal funds, by any law of the United States of America or the lawful regulations of any agency thereof applicable to the Agreement, shall be deemed to be inserted herein, and the Agreement shall be read, interpreted, and enforced as if such provisions were set forth therein in full. If desired by the System, or by any Commonwealth or Federal Officer having power to require the inclusion of provisions and terms in Professional Agreements, the Agreement may be forthwith physically amended to include such provisions over the signature of the Professional.

10.5 LEGISLATIVE AND POLICY UPDATES

It may be necessary from time to time to modify the provisions of this Agreement to comply with legislative or policy changes, including updates to policies of the System. In such cases, the System will notify the Professional of the necessary changes, and the changes will be incorporated into the Agreement by Amendment.

10.6 ENVIRONMENTAL PROVISIONS

In the performance of the Agreement, the Professional shall minimize pollution from its own activities and shall strictly comply with all applicable environmental laws and regulations.

Unless otherwise provided for in this Agreement, the Professional shall have no responsibility for the discovery, handling, removal, or disposal of hazardous material or toxic substances at a Project site. Additionally, the Professional shall have no responsibility for exposure of persons to such hazardous materials or toxic substances at the Project site.

10.7 TAXES (EXCISE TAXES)

The System is exempt from all excise taxes imposed by the Internal Revenue Service. With the exception of purchases of the following items, no exemption certificates are required and none will be issued: undyed diesel fuel, tires, trucks, gas guzzler emergency vehicles, and sports fishing equipment. The System is also exempt from Pennsylvania state sales tax, local sales tax, public transportation assistance taxes and fees, and vehicle rental tax. The Pennsylvania Department of Revenue regulations provide that exemption certificates are not required for sales made to governmental entities and none will be issued. Nothing in this paragraph is meant to exempt a Professional from the payment of any of these taxes or fees which are required to be paid with respect to the purchase, use, rental, or lease of tangible personal property or taxable services used or transferred in connection with the performance of this Agreement.

10.8 AUDIT PROVISIONS

The Professional agrees to maintain books, documents, and records which shall support the prices charged and costs incurred for the Agreement. The System shall have the right, at reasonable times and at a site designated by the System, to audit the books, documents, and

records of the Professional to the extent that the books, documents, and records relate to costs or pricing data for the Agreement. The Professional shall give full and free access to such books, documents, and records to the System and/or their authorized representatives. The Professional shall preserve books, documents, and records that relate to costs or pricing data for the Agreement for three (3) years after final payment.

10.9 TAX LIABILITY AND OFFSET

The Professional, by execution of this Agreement, certifies that it has no outstanding tax liability to the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania; authorizes the Pennsylvania Department of Revenue to release information related to its tax liability to the System; and authorizes the Commonwealth to set off any state and local tax liabilities of the Professional or any of its subsidiaries, as well as any other amount due to the Commonwealth from the Professional, not being contested on appeal by the Professional, against any payment due to the Professional under an agreement with the Commonwealth.

The certification of no outstanding tax liability is a material representation of fact upon which reliance is placed by the System in entering the Agreement. If it is later determined that the Professional knowingly rendered an erroneous certification, the System may find the Professional in default and terminate the Agreement. Such erroneous certification may also be grounds for initiation of civil or criminal proceedings.

10.10 ASSIGNMENT OF ANTITRUST CLAIMS

The Professional and the System recognize that in actual economic practice, overcharges by the Professional's suppliers resulting from violations of state or federal antitrust laws are in fact borne by the System. The Professional assigns to the System, as part of the consideration for the award of this Agreement and intending to be legally bound, all right, title and interest in and to any claims the Professional now has, or may acquire, under state or federal antitrust laws relating to the products and services which are the subject of this Agreement.

10.11 NO THIRD PARTY RIGHTS

Nothing in this Agreement, in these General Conditions, or in any other document incorporated herein by reference or issued hereunder, expressed or implied, is intended to or shall be construed to confer upon, or give to, any person, firm or corporation, or any governmental agency other than the System, its successors and assigns, and the Professional, any right, remedy, or claim, legal or equitable, whether as third party beneficiary or otherwise. This Agreement and all provisions applicable hereto or incorporated herein are for the sole and exclusive benefit of the System, its successors and assigns, and the Professional.

10.12 HOLD HARMLESS

The Professional shall indemnify and hold harmless the System, and their agents and employees, from and against all third-party claims, damages, losses, and expenses, including reasonable attorneys' fees, to the extent arising out of or resulting from the performance of the Professional's services, provided that any such claim, damage, loss or expense: (1) is attributable to bodily injury, sickness, disease, or death, or to injury to or destruction of tangible property including the loss of use resulting therefrom, and (2) is caused in whole or in part by any negligent act, error, or omission of the Professional, any subconsultant, any one directly or indirectly employed by any of them, or any one for whose acts any of them may be liable, regardless of whether or not it is caused in part by a party indemnified hereunder.

In any and all claims against the System, or against any of their agents or employees, by any employee or the Professional, any subconsultant, any one directly or indirectly employed by any of them, or any one for whose acts any of them may be liable, the indemnification obligations shall not be limited in any way by any limitation on the amount or type of damages,

compensation, or benefits payable by or for the Professional or any subconsultant under workmen's compensation acts, disability benefit acts, or other employee benefit acts.

The obligations of the Professional under this Article shall not extend to the liability of any other contractor, any other Professional, or any other representative of the System, or any of their agents or employees, arising out of: (1) the preparation or approval of maps, drawings, opinions, reports, surveys, change orders, designs, or specifications, or (2) the giving of, or the failure to give, directions or instructions by representatives of the System, or their agents or employees, provided such giving, or failure to give, is the primary cause of the injury or damages.

10.13 AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT

The Professional understands and agrees that, pursuant to federal regulations promulgated under the authority of *The Americans With Disabilities Act, 28 C.F.R.* § 35.101 et seq., the Professional shall not cause any individual with a disability to be excluded from participation in this Agreement or from activities provided for under this Agreement on the basis of the disability.

The Professional agrees, as a condition of accepting this Agreement, to comply with the "General Prohibitions Against Discrimination," 28 C.F.R. § 35.130, and all other regulations promulgated under Title II of The Americans With Disabilities Act which are applicable to all benefits, services, programs, and activities provided by the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania through contracts with outside Professionals.

The Professional shall be responsible for and agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania from all losses, damages, expenses, claims, demands, suits, and actions brought by any party against the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania as a result of the Professional's failure to comply with Article 10.13.

10.14 NONDISCRIMINATION/SEXUAL HARASSMENT

The Professional agrees in the hiring of any employee(s) for the manufacture of supplies, performance of work, or any other activity required under the Agreement or any subcontract, the Professional, each subconsultant, or any person acting on behalf of the Professional or subconsultant shall not discriminate in violation of the *Pennsylvania Human Relations Act* (PHRA) and applicable federal laws against any citizen of this Commonwealth who is qualified and available to perform the work to which the employment relates.

Neither the Professional nor any subconsultant nor any person on their behalf shall in any manner discriminate in violation of the PHRA and applicable federal laws against or intimidate any employee involved in the manufacture of supplies, the performance of work, or any other activity required under the Agreement.

The Professional and each subconsultant shall establish and maintain a written nondiscrimination and sexual harassment policy and shall inform their employees of the policy. The policy must contain a provision that sexual harassment will not be tolerated and employees who practice it will be disciplined. Posting this Nondiscrimination/Sexual Harassment Clause conspicuously in easily-accessible and well-lighted places customarily frequented by employees and at or near where the contract services are performed shall satisfy this requirement.

The Professional and each subconsultant shall not discriminate in violation of PHRA and applicable federal laws against any subcontractor or supplier who is qualified to perform the work to which the Agreement relates.

The Professional and each subconsultant represents that it is presently in compliance with and will maintain compliance with all applicable federal, state, and local laws and regulations relating to nondiscrimination and sexual harassment.

The Professional and each subconsultant further represents that it has filed a Standard Form 100 Employer Information Report ("EEO-1") with the U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission ("EEOC") and shall file an annual EEO-1 report with the EEOC as required for employers subject to *Title VII* of the *Civil Rights Act of 1964*, as amended, that have 100 or more employees and employers that have federal government contracts or first-tier subcontracts and have 50 or more employees. The Professional and each subconsultant shall, upon request and within the time periods requested by the Commonwealth, furnish all necessary employment documents and records, including EEO-1 reports, and permit access to their books, records, and accounts by the Commonwealth for purpose of ascertaining compliance with provisions of this Nondiscrimination/Sexual Harassment Clause.

The Professional shall include the provisions of this Nondiscrimination/Sexual Harassment Clause in every subcontract so that those provisions applicable to subconsultant will be binding upon each subconsultant.

The Professional's and each subconsultant's obligations pursuant to these provisions are ongoing from and after the effective date of the Agreement through the termination date thereof. Accordingly, the Professional and each subconsultant shall have an obligation to inform the Commonwealth if, at any time during the term of the Agreement, it becomes aware of any actions or occurrences that would result in violation of these provisions.

The Commonwealth may cancel or terminate the Agreement and all money due or to become due under the Agreement may be forfeited for a violation of the terms and conditions of this Nondiscrimination/Sexual Harassment Clause. In addition, the System may proceed with debarment or suspension and may place the Professional in the Contractor Responsibility File.

10.15 PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY PROVISIONS

The Professional certifies, for itself and all its subconsultants, that as of the date of its execution of this Agreement, that neither the Professional, nor any subcontractors, nor any suppliers, are under suspension or debarment by the System or any governmental entity, instrumentality, or authority and, if the Professional cannot so certify, then it agrees to submit a written explanation of why such certification cannot be made.

The Professional also certifies, that as of the date of its execution of this Agreement, it has no tax liabilities or other Commonwealth obligations.

The Professional's obligations pursuant to these provisions are ongoing from and after the effective date of the Agreement through the termination date thereof. Accordingly, the Professional shall have an obligation to inform the System if, at any time during the term of the Agreement, it becomes delinquent in the payment of taxes or other Commonwealth obligations, or if it or any of its subcontractors are suspended or debarred by the System, the federal government, or any other state or governmental entity. Such notification shall be made within fifteen (15) days of the date of suspension or debarment.

The failure of the Professional to notify the System of its suspension or debarment by the System, the federal government, or any other state or government entity shall constitute an event of default of the Agreement with the System.

The Professional agrees to reimburse the System for the reasonable costs of investigation incurred by the Office of State Inspector General for investigations of the Professional's compliance with the terms of this, or any other agreement between the Professional and the System, which results in the suspension or debarment of the Professional. Such costs shall include, but shall not be limited to, salaries of investigators, including overtime; travel and lodging expenses; and expert witness and documentary fees. The Professional shall not be responsible for investigative costs for investigations that do not result in the Professional's suspension or debarment.

The Professional may obtain a current list of suspended and debarred Commonwealth Professionals by contacting the Department of General Services, Office of Chief Counsel, 603

North Office Building, Harrisburg, PA 17125, phone: 717-783-6472.

10.16 DEBARMENT OR SUSPENSION

The Contracting Officer shall recommend debarment or suspension action against the Professional whenever there is substantial evidence that a cause for debarment or suspension under the provisions of the Commonwealth Procurement Code (62 Pa.C.S. §101 *et seq.*) and the provisions of this Agreement have occurred. The Professional shall be notified of such action and given reasonable opportunity to be heard by the agency's head or designee. The agency head shall determine debarment or suspension actions appropriate for the offense in accordance with the provisions of the Commonwealth Procurement Code (62 Pa.C.S. §101 *et seq.*).

10.17 PROFESSIONAL'S COVENANT AGAINST CONTINGENT FEES

The Professional warrants that no person or selling agency has been employed or retained to solicit or secure this Agreement upon an agreement or understanding for a commission, percentage, brokerage, or contingent fee, except bona fide employees or bona fide established commercial or selling agencies maintained by the Professional for the purpose of securing business. For breach or violation of this warranty, the System shall have the right to terminate the Agreement without liability or in its discretion to deduct from the Agreement price or consideration, or otherwise recover the full amount of such commission, percentage, brokerage, or contingent fee.

10.18 CONTRACTOR INTEGRITY

It is essential that those who seek to contract with the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania ("Commonwealth") observe high standards of honesty and integrity. They must conduct themselves in a manner that fosters public confidence in the integrity of the Commonwealth contracting and procurement process.

For purposes of these Contractor Integrity provisions, the following terms shall have the meanings found in this Section:

- a. "Affiliate" means two or more entities where (a) a parent entity owns more than fifty percent of the voting stock of each of the entities; or (b) a common shareholder or group of shareholders owns more than fifty percent of the voting stock of each of the entities; or (c) the entities have a common proprietor or general partner.
- b. "Consent" means written permission signed by a duly authorized officer or employee of the Commonwealth, provided that where the material facts have been disclosed, in writing, by prequalification, bid, proposal, or contractual terms, the Commonwealth shall be deemed to have consented by virtue of the execution of this Agreement.
- c. "Professional" means the individual or entity that has entered into this Agreement with the Commonwealth.
- d. "Professional-Related Parties" means any affiliates of the Professional and the Professional's executive officers, Pennsylvania officers and directors, or owners of five percent or more interest in the Professional.
- e. "Financial Interest" means either:
- (1) Ownership of more than a five percent interest in any business; or
- (2) Holding a position as an officer, director, trustee, partner, employee, or holding any position of management.
- f. "Gratuity" means tendering, giving, or providing anything of more than nominal monetary value including, but not limited to, cash, travel, entertainment, gifts, meals, lodging, loans, subscriptions, advances, deposits of money, services, employment, or contracts of any kind. The exceptions set forth in the Governor's Code of Conduct, Executive Order 1980-18, the 4 Pa. Code §7.153(b), shall apply.

- g. "Non-bid Basis" means a contract awarded or executed by the Commonwealth with the Professional without seeking bids or proposals from any other potential bidder or offeror. In furtherance of this policy, the Professional agrees to the following:
- a. The Professional shall maintain the highest standards of honesty and integrity during the performance of this Agreement and shall take no action in violation of state or federal laws or regulations or any other applicable laws or regulations, or other requirements applicable to the Professional or that govern contracting or procurement with the Commonwealth.
- b. The Professional shall establish and implement a written business integrity policy, which includes, at a minimum, the requirements of these provisions as they relate to the Professional's activity with the Commonwealth and Commonwealth employees and which is made known to all Professional employees. Posting these Contractor Integrity provisions conspicuously in easily-accessible and well-lighted places customarily frequented by employees and at or near where the contract services are performed shall satisfy this requirement.
- c. The Professional, its affiliates, agents, and employees, and anyone in privity with Professional shall not accept, agree to give, offer, confer, or agree to confer or promise to confer, directly or indirectly, any gratuity or pecuniary benefit to any person, or to influence or attempt to influence any person in violation of any federal or state law, regulation, executive order of the Governor of Pennsylvania, statement of policy, management directive, or any other published standard of the Commonwealth in connection with performance of services under this Agreement, except as provided in this Agreement.
- d. The Professional shall not have a financial interest in any other contractor, subcontractor, or supplier providing services, labor, or material under this Agreement, unless the financial interest is disclosed to the Commonwealth in writing and the Commonwealth consents to Professional's financial interest prior to Commonwealth execution of the Agreement. The Professional shall disclose the financial interest to the Commonwealth at the time of bid or proposal submission, or if no bids or proposals are solicited, no later than Professional's submission of this Agreement signed by Professional.
- e. The Professional certifies to the best of its knowledge and belief that within the last five (5) years the Professional or Professional-Related Parties have not:
- (1) been indicted or convicted of a crime involving moral turpitude or business honesty or integrity in any jurisdiction;
- (2) been suspended, debarred or otherwise disqualified from entering into any contract with any governmental agency;
- (3) had any business license or professional license suspended or revoked;
- (4) had any sanction or finding of fact imposed as a result of a judicial or administrative proceeding related to fraud, extortion, bribery, bid rigging, embezzlement, misrepresentation, or anti-trust; and
- (5) been, and is not currently, the subject of a criminal investigation by any federal, state, or local prosecuting or investigative agency, and/or civil anti-trust investigation by any federal, state, or local prosecuting or investigative agency.

If the Professional cannot so certify to the above, then it must submit along with its bid, proposal, or contract, a written explanation of why such certification cannot be made and the Commonwealth will determine whether a contract may be entered into with the Professional. The Professional's obligation pursuant to this certification is ongoing from and after the effective date of this Agreement through the termination date thereof. Accordingly, the Professional shall have an obligation to immediately notify the Commonwealth in writing if at any time during the term of the Agreement it becomes aware of any event which would cause the Professional's certification or explanation to change. The Professional acknowledges that the Commonwealth may, in its sole discretion, terminate the Agreement for cause if it learns that any of the certifications made herein are currently false due to intervening factual circumstances, or were

false or should have been known to be false when entering into the Agreement.

- b. The Professional shall comply with the requirements of the Lobbying Disclosure Act (65 Pa.C.S. §13A01 et seq.) regardless of the method of award. If this Agreement was awarded on a Non-bid Basis, the Professional must also comply with the requirements of Section 1641 of the Pennsylvania Election Code (25 P.S. §3260a).
- c. When the Professional has reason to believe that any breach of ethical standards as set forth in law, the Governor's Code of Conduct, or these Contractor Integrity provisions has occurred or may occur, including but not limited to contact by a Commonwealth officer or employee which, if acted upon, would violate such ethical standards, the Professional shall immediately notify the Commonwealth Contracting Officer or the Office of the State Inspector General in writing.
- d. The Professional, by submission of its bid or proposal and/or execution of this Agreement, and by the submission of any bills, invoices, or requests for payment pursuant to the Agreement, certifies and represents that it has not violated any of these Contractor Integrity provisions in connection with the submission of the bid or proposal, during any contract negotiations or during the term of the Agreement, to include any extensions thereof. The Professional shall immediately notify the Commonwealth in writing of any actions for occurrences that would result in a violation of these Contractor Integrity provisions. The Professional agrees to reimburse the Commonwealth for the reasonable costs of investigation incurred by the Office of the State Inspector General for investigations of the Professional's compliance with the terms of this or any other agreement between the Professional and the Commonwealth that results in the suspension or debarment of the Professional. The Professional shall not be responsible for investigative costs for investigations that do not result in the Professional's suspension or debarment.
- e. The Professional shall cooperate with the Office of the State Inspector General in its investigation of any alleged Commonwealth agency or employee breach of ethical standards and any alleged Professional non-compliance with these Contractor Integrity provisions. The Professional agrees to make identified Professional employees available for interviews at reasonable times and places. The Professional, upon the inquiry or request of an Inspector General, shall provide, or if appropriate, make promptly available for inspection or copying, any information of any type or form deemed relevant by the Office of the State Inspector General to the Professional's integrity and compliance with these provisions. Such information may include, but shall not be limited to, the Professional's business or financial records, documents, or files of any type or form that refer to or concern this Agreement. The Professional shall incorporate this paragraph in any agreement, contract, or subcontract it enters into in the course of the performance of this Agreement solely for the purpose of obtaining subcontractor compliance with this provision. The incorporation of this provision in a subcontract shall not create privity of contract between the Commonwealth and any such subcontractor, and no third party beneficiaries shall be created thereby.

For violation of any of these Contractor Integrity provisions, the Commonwealth may terminate this and any other contract with Professional, claim liquidated damages in an amount equal to the value of anything received in breach of these provisions, claim damages for all additional costs and expenses incurred in obtaining another contractor to complete performance under this Agreement, and debar and suspend the Professional from doing business with the Commonwealth. These rights and remedies are cumulative, and the use or non-use of any one shall not preclude the use of all or any other. These rights and remedies are in addition to those the Commonwealth may have under law, statute, regulation, or otherwise.

10.19 RIGHT TO KNOW LAW

Unless otherwise determined by a Pennsylvania appellate court subsequent to the execution of this Agreement, the Pennsylvania Right-to-Know Law, 65 P.S. §§ 67.101-3104 ("RTKL"), applies to this Agreement.

Unless the Professional provides the System, in writing, with the name and contact information of another person, the System shall notify the Professional if the System needs the Professional's assistance in connection with a request made under the RTKL. The Professional shall notify the System in writing of any change in the name or the contact information within a reasonable time prior to the change.

Upon notification to the Professional that the System has received a request for the Professional's records under the RTKL (the "Requested Information"), the Professional agrees to assist the System in responding to the request. Such assistance shall include providing the System, within three (3) days, with copies of any Requested Information in the Professional's possession that the Professional deems a Public Record, as that term is defined in the RTKL, or otherwise notify the System that the Requested Information is not a Public Record. If the Professional is unable to provide the Requested Information within three (3) days for one of the reasons specified in the RTKL, the Professional agrees to timely notify the System that it will need up to an additional twenty-five (25) days, and must provide in writing the reason the additional time is needed. If the Professional makes a determination the Requested Information is within the scope of the RTKL but fails to provide the Requested Information to the System within the period specified in this provision, the failure shall be considered an event of default and the Professional shall pay, indemnify, and hold the System harmless for any damages, penalties, detriment, or harm that the System may incur as a result of the Professional's failure.

The Professional's determination as to whether the Requested Information is a Public Record is dispositive of the question as between the parties. The Professional agrees to provide information and/or to appear before the Office of Open Records or Pennsylvania Courts in support of the System's denial of access to a record the Professional determined was not a Public Record. The Professional agrees to indemnify the System for any court costs, attorneys' fees, or civil penalties awarded against the System under the RTKL in connection with the Professional's denial of access to Requested Information.

If in the course of this Agreement, the System is provided with information the Professional clearly identifies as a Trade Secret or Confidential Proprietary Information, as those terms are defined by the RTKL, the System agrees to abide by the terms of Section 707 of the RTKL and timely provide the Professional with notice of a request for this information and allow the Professional the ability to respond, as provided by the RTKL. The Professional reserves all rights and remedies as allowed by law relating to the System's unauthorized disclosure of the Professional's Trade Secret or Confidential Proprietary Information. This provision shall not be construed to limit the sovereign immunity of the System.

The System will reimburse the Professional for any costs associated with complying with this provision only to the extent allowed under the fee schedule established by the Office of Open Records or as otherwise provided by the RTKL if the fee schedule is inapplicable.

The Professional agrees to abide by any decision to release a record to the public made by the Office of Open Records after timely appeal to the Pennsylvania Courts.

10.20 NON-APPROPRIATION OF FUNDS

The System's obligation to make payments during any Commonwealth fiscal year succeeding the current fiscal year shall be subject to availability and appropriation of funds. When funds (System, State and/or Federal) are not appropriated or otherwise made available to support continuation of performance in a subsequent fiscal year period, the System shall have the right to terminate the Agreement and/or any Individual Work Order. The Professional shall be reimbursed for the reasonable value of any nonrecurring costs incurred but not amortized in the price of the supplies or services delivered under the Agreement. Such reimbursement shall not include loss of profit, loss of use of money, or administrative or overhead costs. The reimbursement amount may be paid from any appropriations available for that purpose.